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CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
We will open the hearing on Assembly Concurrent Resolution (A.C.R.) 30. 
 
ASSEMBLY CONCURRENT RESOLUTION 30 (1st Reprint): Directs the 

Legislative Commission to conduct an interim study on the development 
and promotion of logistics and distribution centers in this State. (BDR R-
1305) 

 
ASSEMBLYWOMAN BARBARA E. BUCKLEY (Assembly District No. 8): 
This resolution deals with transforming Nevada into a major West Coast 
logistics center. As we focus on the economy, we need to look at creating new 
jobs and diversifying the economy. The U.S. transportation system carried over 
15 billion tons of freight valued over $9 trillion in 1998, which is expected to 
increase to $30 trillion by 2020. The Nation’s highway system moved 
71 percent of the total tonnage. The U.S. domestic freight volumes will grow by 
more than 65 percent. Nevada, by virtue of location, is ideally located to act as 
a logistics hub for the Mountain West. Although we have rail lines that connect 
Reno/Tahoe with Las Vegas and the Mountain West area, rail freight is moving 
from California through Nevada to eastern locations. The largest areas of 
growth are through Phoenix for the Southwest and through Kansas City for the 
Northwest. Despite our pivotal geographic location, Nevada is nowhere in this 
picture.  
 
Air freight is a growing segment of international logistics networks, and yet no 
Nevada airport ranks in the top 125 U.S. freight gateways. Nevada does not 
lack for interstate highways to connect the West Coast to America’s heartland, 
and yet most truck freight traffic bypasses Nevada.  
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Current projections do not look promising. Salt Lake City is proposed to remain 
the hub for the east to northwest in distribution of goods, while Phoenix is 
poised to dominate the southwest. We are failing to bring these businesses and 
jobs to Nevada despite our favorable tax structure and climate over surrounding 
states. What will it take to make northern and southern Nevada major 
transportation hubs and logistics centers for the southwest and mountain 
states? 
 
We can start by establishing an interim committee to examine and resolve the 
various issues relating to this transformation. The University of Nevada, Reno, 
and the University of Nevada, Las Vegas, have established supply chain 
management curricula that can provide consulting services and train our 
logistics managers and workers of tomorrow. This could also promote the green 
industry. We must promote our State in order to secure our future economy. 
Additional graphs can be viewed in my handout (Exhibit C). I have a technical 
amendment (Exhibit D). The changes for an interim commission are listed in 
another handout (Exhibit E). Because of the limited number of studies possible, 
we combined this with transportation.  
 
ASSEMBLYMAN KELVIN ATKINSON (Assembly District No. 17): 
We rolled my resolution into this one, which would include a good mass transit 
system. My resolution asked for an interim study that would include the 
examination of benefits and associated costs of creating a mass transit system. 
It is important to determine the funding options available to develop a mass 
transit system, the infrastructure necessary for any proposed system and the 
environmental impact with any expansion. Now that I am more involved as 
Chair of the Assembly Committee on Transportation, it is my belief we are not 
going to fix transportation unless we include the things Speaker Buckley spoke 
of. Other states have mass transit systems which get people out of their cars. 
Our State needs to follow those models soon so we do not become like 
Los Angeles. That city thought about mass transit so late they did not have the 
infrastructure, so they piecemealed it together. There are a few groups who 
have worked with mass transit who are going to share their findings with this 
Committee. We want to create a subcommittee consisting of three members 
each of the Assembly and Senate to study the feasibility of mass transit in this 
State.  
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PAUL J. ENOS (CEO, Nevada Motor Transport Association): 
This resolution is exciting to me from a historical viewpoint. During the 
economic challenges in the 1930s, Nevada Governor Richard Kirman had the 
vision to attract millionaires to our State by offering low taxes and a good 
business environment. That worked until the passage of the Sales and Use Tax 
Act of 1955. We may not attract millionaires as we did earlier, but how else can 
we attract those with vision to come here? Speaker Barbara Buckley talked of 
our geographic advantages. California is having problems, such as the California 
Air Resources Board (CARB). In the trucking industry, CARB is an unpopular 
agency. We could capitalize on this by relocating those trucking companies, 
warehouses and distribution centers from California to our State. Arizona has 
attracted a steamship client from California. If they can have a steamship line, 
then Nevada can attract these logistic and distributions companies and even add 
light manufacturing to the job market. The largest industrial park in the world, 
the Tahoe-Reno Industrial Center, is being built in northern Nevada. That is a 
result of vision. Our State has great opportunities. The town of Wells would be 
perfect, with Interstate 80 connecting the east to the west and U.S. Highway 
93 from northern border to southern border. This would be an ideal location for 
such a company. An interim study to examine these possibilities of growth and 
promotion is vital for our vision and future. This could be a new piston in the 
engine of our economy. 
 
YVONNE L. MURPHY (Tahoe-Reno Industrial Center): 
My client, Tahoe-Reno Industrial Center—the largest industrial park in the 
country—is excited about this proposal. The owner would like you to know he 
has spent $110 million of his personal money on this idea and is prepared to 
add another $50 million to the Tahoe-Reno Industrial Center to include fiber 
optics, sewer, water and gas lines. We are proud of the project and ask for your 
support.  
 
TRAY ABNEY (Director, Government Relations, Reno-Sparks Chamber of 

Commerce): 
We are in strong support of A.C.R. 30 and echo the last two testifiers’ 
comments. I attended an event a few weeks ago with California legislators. We 
talked about businesses that had moved from California to Nevada. Besides the 
draw of no State income tax, our appealing regulations and worker’s 
compensation, the thing I learned was it is cheaper to ship from northern 
Nevada into southern California than it is to ship between two points in 
California. We are perfectly situated to take advantage of the current market. 
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CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
We will close the hearing on A.C.R. 30 and open the hearing on Assembly Bill 
(A.B.) 82.  
 
ASSEMBLY BILL 82 (2nd Reprint): Makes various changes relating to elections. 

(BDR 24-417) 
 
ROSS MILLER (Secretary of State): 
This bill was requested by the Nevada county clerks and registrars and is the 
combined work of our Office with many election officials from across the State. 
It is a lengthy bill which has encountered much debate in the Assembly. We 
have provided a bill outline (Exhibit F). 
   
Assembly Bill 82 provides for changing the number of active voters in a precinct 
from 1,500 to 3,000 voters to accommodate the growth in certain election 
precincts without creating new precincts. This will save the counties substantial 
costs.   
 
It allows our Office to create an electronic voter registration system modeled 
after those of Arizona and Washington. Their intent was to increase the 
efficiency of administering an election. In the last election cycle, there were 
many registration forms submitted at the close of registration, which puts a 
burden on the clerks and registrars who must deal with them at the last second. 
The clerks must work around the clock to manually enter that data into their 
registration system. It is a cumbersome process prone to errors. Voters 
sometimes leave off required information, and administration sometimes makes 
errors inputting data. An electronic process would be more streamlined and 
accessible to the public. Now people can register online. In Arizona, 72 percent 
of the people who registered to vote in 2007 did so online. In 2003, the 
first year this was implemented, only 25 percent of voters took advantage of 
online registration, but that state has seen a significant jump since then. This 
system puts into place several safeguards.  
 
During the last election cycle, the Association of Community Organizations for 
Reform Now (ACORN) submitted thousands of registration forms. Electronic 
registration should curb abusive practices.  We will use the same language as 
administered in Arizona and Washington and will not allow anyone to register 
without a valid identification card issued by the State. We would compare that 
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record with the Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV) records to ensure only 
those who are verified will be able to register.  
 
The bill would regulate voter registration drives. It would require a person who 
organizes a drive to file a statement of intent with our Office and complete a 
training course. A voter registration drive is the distribution and collection of ten 
or more voter registration applications. The organizer of a registration drive 
would have to sign an affidavit affirming that they understand laws and 
procedures associated with the Nevada registration process. This language was 
put into place out of response to abuses we witnessed in the last presidential 
race.  
 
This bill would mandate that, effective 2011, all filings of Campaign 
Contributions and Expenses Reports must be filed electronically. If you look at 
any state survey covering analysis of campaign funding, Nevada is among the 
worst. We are the only State that has gotten worse. From 2003 to 2008, we 
worsened. We got an “F” in the area of accessibility of the reports. Our 
paper-based process is cumbersome. Reports can amount to hundreds of pages 
of disclosures. Those are not currently accessible to the public. By mandating 
they be filed online, they are put into a format the public could view. This would 
increase our transparency. 
 
The last provision deals with independent expenditures. In section 29.3 of 
A.B. 82, it requires a person who makes expenditures on behalf of a candidate 
register with the Secretary of State’s Office first. Currently, expenditures are 
required to be reported. The loophole we need to close was seen in the 
2008 campaign for Nevada Supreme Court Justice Kristina Pickering. The day 
before the primary election, Clark County voters received fliers opposing the 
nomination of two candidates. Since my Office was unable to determine which 
party was responsible, there was no remedy for a last-minute violation. We 
want to avoid this in the future. Disclosure is required at the end of the cycle, 
but this would require people to make an independent expenditure to register 
beforehand so we know better who the shadow groups are and what their 
agendas include beforehand.  
 
SENATOR RAGGIO: 
Does the electronic registration change the dates people can register to vote?  
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MR. MILLER: 
It does not change the effective dates; it only authorizes our Office to create an 
online registration system so people can register to vote online. 
 
SENATOR RAGGIO: 
This does not provide for same-day registration? 
 
MR. MILLER: 
It does not. 
 
SENATOR RAGGIO: 
How will you verify driver’s licenses and identification if people register 
electronically? 
 
MR. MILLER: 
As we envision the system, A.B. 82 would only allow people to register to vote 
online if they have a valid driver’s license or a Nevada identification card. 
Information is entered online through the forms. When we receive the 
information, it is integrated with the system at the Department of Motor 
Vehicles to ensure we can verify the identity of the person. We compare the 
driver’s license number and the physical address. Additionally, for the purposes 
of initiative petitions we will grab the signature on file with the DMV and put it 
in our system. The instant people register to vote online, they will also be able 
to sign initiative petitions as they would be legally registered to vote. 
 
SENATOR RAGGIO: 
Is that a workable way to guarantee identity? On page 31 of the bill, is 
section 32 intentionally taking out the present restriction on making 
contributions? The language on lines 31 through 39 is stricken. Does it change 
the limitation that a person cannot make or receive a contribution during those 
periods?  
 
MATTHEW M. GRIFFIN (Deputy for Elections, Office of the Secretary of State): 
No, it does not. The limitations would still be in effect. There is a loophole in the 
law that provides in the lined-through language under section 32, 
subsection 1, paragraph (b), lines 37 and 38 that say “Beginning from 30 days 
after the last election for the office and ending 30 days before the next general 
city election … .” Because some city elections are on a staggered schedule, that 
language creates a 60-day period where there are no limitations. 
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SENATOR RAGGIO: 
This only pertains to the city? 
 
MR. GRIFFIN: 
This pertains to all candidates. By virtue of raising $100, it expands the election 
cycle from the second you become a candidate until the time your name 
appears on the ballot. That is considered one election cycle. As the law exists, 
you can raise $5,000, and as it is amended, you can raise $5,000 for the 
primary and $5,000 for the general election. We are backing up the time frame 
because candidates have become “a candidate” long before filing for office. 
 
SENATOR RAGGIO: 
Let us talk about Legislators. Does this change the present dates and limitations 
on candidates for the Legislature, the Governor or Lieutenant Governor when 
they can commit to receive a contribution? 
 
MR. GRIFFIN: 
No, it does not. 
 
SENATOR RAGGIO: 
Why it is necessary on page 31, section 30, subsection (2), paragraph (c) to 
remove the language of “An individual natural person” and include it in under 
the definition of the committee for political action? 
 
MR. GRIFFIN: 
There are legal concerns with separating ballot advocacy group provisions (BAG) 
and political action committee (PAC) provisions and giving them their own 
reporting schedules. We have combined BAGs and PACs into the definition of 
committee for political action and given them all the same reporting period.  
 
LARRY LOMAX (Registrar of Voters, Clark County): 
We support A.B. 82. Changing the precinct sizes from 1,500 to 3,000 is 
helpful. During the last five years before conducting redistricting, we were not 
allowed to increase the size of precincts. We are addressing the way we draw 
precincts after redistricting is completed in 2011. The more precincts we have, 
the more money it costs for elections. This bill tightens up the rules affecting 
voter registration drives. 
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The online voter registration system will be tied in with the DMV and worked 
through the counties, satisfying everyone with the identity issues. Currently, the 
paper registration is received through the mail and verified by running the 
driver’s license number or the last four digits of the social security number 
through the DMV to verify it is accurate and matches the person’s name and 
address. Allowing the voter to register online is a different process but will 
require the same identification verification. It could save significant staff hours. 
We manually entered over 300,000 voter registration applications in 
Clark County during 2008. Online registration will eliminate typos and increase 
accuracy by not having to read handwriting. 
 
SENATOR WIENER: 
How many counties or election jurisdictions have gone to this process? 
 
MR. LOMAX: 
It is constantly growing. Arizona and Washington have been using this process 
for a few years and are very happy with the results. Several other states are 
changing to this system. 
 
SENATOR WIENER: 
Would matching signatures on driver’s licenses through DMV be the same for 
matching signatures on Nevada identifications? Are there data entry errors when 
the information is entered into the computer? Is there any recourse if 
information is entered incorrectly? 
 
ALAN GLOVER (Clerk-Recorder, Carson City): 
When the Secretary of State’s office proposed this, as clerks we were reluctant 
to accept the process. But there are many advantages. Many people go to DMV 
to register and enter the wrong driver’s license number. When we receive voter 
registration applications, we find errors such as the wrong date of birth or 
numbers transposed. This process gives a clean, printed copy of the application 
versus attempting to read handwriting. When the individual’s handwriting is 
read incorrectly and the application does not match with DMV, the application 
comes back and we must send a letter to the individual, indicating there are 
errors. This process will give us a clean and legible document. Regulations can 
work out how to bring over signatures. Clerks attended a meeting two weeks 
ago in Elko and were satisfied with this process. Online registration is a modern 
version that should help reduce costs.  
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SENATOR RAGGIO: 
Will section 29.3, page 29, require all the contributions of a candidate be 
reported electronically? We just received a mock-up of proposed 
Amendment 5369 (Exhibit G, original is on file in the Research Library), which 
adds sections 29.9 and 29.11. I have questions, such as what are the changes 
in the requirement for a candidate to report contributions; does it require the 
reporting be done electronically; does it require immediate filing of a contribution 
or will the time limits for filing remain the same. 
 
MR. GRIFFIN: 
Proposed Amendment 5369, Exhibit G, was provided by the Legislative Counsel 
Bureau. There may be constitutional concerns requiring an individual who is 
spending their own money on behalf of a question on the ballot to report. 
Proposed Amendment 5369 exempts these people from the BAG reporting 
requirement. There is no effect on the candidates.  
 
SENATOR RAGGIO: 
What about the candidates under section 29.3? Will they be required to file 
electronically, and are the time limits the same? 
 
MR. GRIFFIN: 
The time limits remain the same.  
 
SENATOR RAGGIO: 
There are no additional reports other than the current required reports? 
 
MR. GRIFFIN: 
Sections 29.5 and 29.6 say that every candidate who raises more than 
$10,000 and has access to a computer would be required to file their reports 
electronically with the Office of the Secretary of State. The attempt is to take 
out local officers, general improvement district races and candidacies that do 
not garner many contributions. Candidates can submit an affidavit stating they 
do not have a computer available and are opting out of the online filing 
requirements. None of the reporting periods change. 
 
MR. GLOVER: 
I would like to echo Mr. Lomax. Hopefully, changing the precinct sizes from 
1,500 to 3,000 will prevent the breaking up of precincts and keep them whole 
after redistricting. This is helpful for tracking purposes during an election 
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campaign. The voter registration drive issue is a problem not only in 
Clark County but the whole State. We applaud the Secretary of State for 
attempting to rectify the issue. Voter registration clerks agree that online voter 
registration is helpful and saves money.  
 
SENATOR LEE: 
I am bringing forth proposed amendment, mock-up 5333 (Exhibit H). This bill 
allows that once candidates have decided not to run, lose an election or are 
term-limited out, unused campaign funds may be donated to school accounts or 
school activities in their areas rather than giving the funds to a campaign of 
another person, a political party or a ballot advisory question. I do not want to 
distract from the Secretary of State’s bill, if this is an issue or problem. I 
support A.B. 82. 
 
SENATOR WIENER: 
I support the statewide program on Fitness and Wellness and the Nevada Youth 
Legislature. These are not registered as tax-exempt nonprofit entities, but I 
would like to be able to donate unused campaign funds to them. They are not 
for-profit organizations and are engaged in quasi-governmental activities. Could 
we add language to the bill allowing for these donations? 
 
CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
We will ask the Legal Division if we may add that language as we process the 
bill.  
 
MR. GRIFFIN: 
The Office of the Secretary of State worked with Senator Lee on proposed 
Amendment 5333. Page 2, beginning on line 41, it covers candidates who are 
leaving office. An example is a candidate who is termed out, under Nevada 
Revised Statute (NRS) 294A.160, subsection 2, “technically won their 
election.” Under that definition, candidates are allowed to keep their donations 
for their next campaign. They were not on the ballot, so they did not lose the 
election. There is no time frame in which candidate’s must dispense of unspent 
campaign contributions. This bill puts in a four-year requirement to decide 
whether to use the money for their next campaign. During that four-year period, 
the balance of the account and contributions would require annual reporting. If 
the candidate’s name does not appear on the ballot within four years and a 
declaration of candidacy has not been filed, then the money must be dispensed 
of in the usual pattern under NRS 294A.160.  
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HEIDI CHLARSON (Legislative Counsel) 
Proposed Amendment 5369, Exhibit G, makes several changes relating to 
persons or a group of persons who advocate the passage or defeat of a 
question or a group of questions on the ballot. In the second reprint of 
A.B. 82, section 32.5 and section 33.2 include those provisions in existing law. 
This amendment deletes reference to the ballot advocacy groups in those 
sections and adds two new sections to chapter 294A. The new sections 
provide ballot advocacy groups that receive contributions in excess of 
$1,000 report expenditures and contributions in excess of $100. These sections 
also specifically exclude natural persons from the definition of person. These are 
the main changes which put them on the same reporting schedule as other 
reports. The electronic filing requirement would apply to these groups, but it 
does not apply until 2011.  
 
DAVID SCHUMANN (Nevada Committee for Full Statehood): 
Section 1.3 of A.B. 82 says “voter registration drive” means distributing and 
collecting ten or more applications to register to vote pursuant to section 1.5 of 
this act. That is micromanagement at its best. The ACORN was not going after 
just ten applications. Section 29.3 says if you spend $100 on a lawn sign you 
must register. Again, this is micromanagement. Let us talk in terms of 
$1,000; these days $100 is worth what $30 was when I was a kid. The 
ACORN is a criminal organization, and I hope they send those people to jail. This 
bill addresses sending people to jail for committing felonies by fraudulent 
actions, which is good. But we do not need the government micromanaging the 
election process, which is a denial of our right to free speech. It is excessive 
being required to go to a class to sign up 11 people. We have been doing this 
for dozens of years and not committing fraud. The ACORN comes along, 
commits massive fraud, and you take it out on normal citizens who do this as 
amateurs. Please get rid of these provisions that micromanage our right to 
participate in the election process. 
 
LEE ROWLAND (Northern Coordinator, American Civil Liberties Union of Nevada): 
I have proposed an amendment deleting several sections of A.B. 82 in the 
handout provided for you (Exhibit I). This bill is vital in terms of how it interacts 
with everyday Nevadans, how people are governed by their government and 
how they understand the rules that govern their lives. My concern with this bill 
is that every hearing has seen a voluminous new amendment. Today, the 
amendment was not seen by the members of public until the Senators were 
handed a copy. The newest proposed Amendment 5369, Exhibit G, severely 
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changes the rules as they relate to ballot advocacy groups which affect 
hundreds of thousands of Nevadans who are involved in the process. This is the 
first time it has been available and only the people in this room have seen it. 
This has a massive effect on everyday Nevadans who are not in this building. It 
should be a longer public process to discuss elements that radically revise rules 
that govern a ballot advocacy group.  
 
Currently, the maximum for advocacy group contributions is $10,000.  
Proposed Amendment 5369, Exhibit G, changes it to $1,000, in increments of 
$100. Section 29.3 requires registration with the Secretary of State prior to 
making an independent expenditure of $100. For example, if you go to the 
Planned Parenthood Website to donate $100 in Sarah Palin’s name, or get a 
campaign lawn sign made for $150 that is not approved by the candidate, you 
cannot do it. If it is Sunday night, and the Secretary of State’s office is closed 
and you do not have a computer, you cannot do it because you have no way to 
preregister. That is a prior restraint on speech and bears a heavy burden. I can 
find no case law in the courts that authorizes election laws that take place prior 
to such expenditure. I heard the explanation for why this provision was inserted 
dealing with Nevada Supreme Court Justice Kris Pickering. While I am 
sympathetic to the problems that created, the answer is not to create 
regulations that will prohibit good speech. We believe section 29.3 of the bill is 
unconstitutional and would be struck down by a court.  
 
I object to sections 32.5, 33.2 and 42 of A.B. 82. These sections added “ballot 
advocacy groups” to the normal reporting requirements dealing with political 
advocacy groups. The amendment proposed by the Legislative Counsel Bureau 
changes that because this language is now removed and dealt with separately. I 
would like my comments to stand insofar as the original version of the bill is 
considered. I think if ballot advocacy groups are added, these three sections are 
unconstitutional. Proposed Amendment 5369, Exhibit G, gives us serious 
concerns. This will dramatically change the limit from $10,000 to $1,000. If the 
ACLU of Nevada spends $1,100 on our newsletter, and in our spring newsletter 
says, here is a bill we do not like, are we required to give you a membership 
list? This is not defined clearly enough. Interpretations should not be left to the 
end of the session when they affect thousands of people.  
 
The e-filing amendment is positive. It improves transparency and searchability. 
As it now reads, it requires someone be impoverished to avoid the requirement. 
If an elderly voter donates $100 of an independent expenditure and does not 
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have a computer, they would be required to find a computer to file online. The 
point is to improve transparency and access, not create rules people cannot 
meet. 
 
Sections 24, 25 and 28 of the bill create unproductive felony penalties. We are 
concerned about election fraud; however, people can be cited for misdemeanor 
activity when they are exit-polling or being involved at the polls. Our concern is 
that setting these high felony levels tend to disincentivize participation in the 
voting process. Sections 24 and 25 include using intimidation or coercion, 
which is a gray area. This was a gross misdemeanor and now it will be a felony. 
Section 25 speaks to remaining inside of a polling place so as to interfere with 
the conduct of the election. Potentially, standing in the wrong area of a polling 
place could irritate a clerk, resulting in a Category C felony. This is a nonviolent 
crime without intent, and it is a dramatic change going from a misdemeanor to a 
Category C felony. When a system of laws is created so people are afraid to go 
into the voting booth or are afraid to give someone a registration form, they are 
not positive policy choices. Instead, they intimidate people. The patchwork of 
rules, while well intentioned, can dramatically reduce participation in the political 
process. There are good efforts in this bill, but about half the bill is 
unconstitutional. I urge you to take a hard look at all these sections. It affects 
all Nevadans. 
 
JOHN WAGNER (Independent American Party): 
We are against most of the provisions in A.B. 82. Section 16 says the clerk or 
the Secretary of State may want to charge you to purchase voter registration 
forms in excess of 50. A political party such as the Independent American Party 
has members in Las Vegas. They may get 50 voter registration forms, then 
members of the party in northern Nevada go to get the forms and find they have 
to pay for them. Can we register people for a fee? That sounds like a poll tax. I 
think we need to get people registered. Last year we had a registration drive 
and obtained 100 voter registration forms. I returned the forms I did not use, 
which you are required to do by law. Being required to register donations of 
$100 irks me. If I donate $100 to Senator Mathews, she is going to have to 
register that donation. Who cares if I gave her $100? The opponents care, they 
want to know every penny donated to a campaign. It discourages people from 
donating anonymously.  
 
I think the purpose of the bill is to kill the initiative. Who will put their name on 
an initiative and donate money if the result is their name will be all over the 
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Internet? Not many. We saw zero initiatives on the ballot last time. This will 
make it difficult. We have a constitutional right for the initiative process, but if 
you make it too hard to do, you have killed it. The e-filing is difficult for some of 
our candidates. Elderly people file, but they may have no knowledge or interest 
in computers. 
 
I know cleaning up voter fraud is a priority, and I commend that. If I advise a 
voter what to do at a voter registration drive when they ask a question, am I 
breaking the law? That is not right. If I sign people’s names, that is a crime. I 
was involved in a petition drive where an individual was obtaining signatures. A 
name came to my attention; I knew this person did not sign the petition 
because of his position. I began to look at some of the other names, and it was 
obvious the person was entering the names. I immediately stopped the process 
and went through the petitions, discarding some. I will not be involved in any 
type of fraud.  
 
JANINE HANSEN (Nevada Eagle Forum): 
I have several serious concerns with A.B. 82 which I have distributed 
(Exhibit J). We agree with the amendments and concerns expressed by the 
Nevada ACLU. One of my concerns is about the changes in BAGs. I have 
provided a copy of the California Proposition 8 map, Exhibit J. The map shows 
locations of people who donated $100 or more to the Proposition 8 Campaign 
and were targeted for harassment in California. Two years ago this Committee 
changed the ballot donations from a $100 limit to a $1,000 limit and then 
changed that to a $10,000 limit. A ballot access committee does not start 
reporting until it has $10,000 currently in donations. This bill changes that 
amount to $1,000. Previously, unless a donation was $1,000, you did not have 
to report. Assembly Bill 82 changes that amount to $100. What occurred in 
California has already occurred in Nevada. During 2004, we worked on getting a 
tax issue on the ballot and a business owner appeared on our contribution list. 
When his name became evident, the casinos pulled all of his contracts. It is 
dangerous for individuals to participate in ballot committees. This bill opens it up 
for harassment, intimidation and persecution. I call it a voter suppression bill. It 
will limit voter participation. We want to encourage more people to be involved, 
but the more rules and the lower the contribution rates in an area of ballot 
committees, the more voter participation is suppressed. The amendment 
presented by the Legislative Counsel Bureau is an attempt to resolve some of 
the issues. It does not resolve the issue of $10,000 being lowered to $1,000 or 
$1,000 being lowered to $100 for individual contributions.  

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/75th2009/Exhibits/Senate/LA/SLA1416J.pdf�
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On page 6 of proposed Amendment 5369, Exhibit G, lines 1 through 3 say 
every person or group of persons described in section 1 shall file a report 
required by this section even if he or she receives no contribution. Why? It is 
offensive to have the Secretary of State monitoring our freedom of speech. I 
highly object. Instead of increasing penalties for offenses in section 24, an 
alternative could provide for a private action in this area. A private individual or 
organization damaged by the threat of force, intimidation, coercion, violence, 
restraint and undue influence would be granted a private cause of action against 
the perpetrator of the offense. In that way, there would be a private opportunity 
to check the offensive action.  
 
I provided a copy of a proposed amendment, Exhibit J. I am concerned that 
throughout A.B. 82 and the current law is the language signed “under penalty 
of perjury.” I signed my candidate forms, crossed out “penalty of perjury” and 
wrote in “I swear in the name of Jesus Christ that the forgoing is true and 
correct.” I was not notified after the first, second or third time I filed the form in 
this manner. I was not notified until the maximum fine was $15,000. I have a 
$15,000 fine against me for the way I filled out the form. I asked the Secretary 
of State if I could please have a waiver because I did everything correctly. I was 
advised I could not have a waiver because the Legislature required I sign under 
penalty of perjury. I am coming to you to ask you to change the law and give us 
candidates as many rights as you as an elected official have. 
 
Currently, when you swear to uphold the constitution, you have the right to do 
so under penalty of perjury or to swear in the name of God. You have that right 
and so does the Secretary of State. However, that right is denied to candidates 
filing for office. The Constitution of the State of Nevada requires a perfect 
toleration of religious sentiment, and in Article 1, section 4 a person cannot be 
denied to be a witness because of their religion. I am being denied to be a 
witness for myself, which violates Article 1, section 4 of the Constitution by 
this law and what the Secretary of State has done. I asked the Assembly to add 
this amendment and they refused. I have no alternative but to come to the 
Senate so other people are not persecuted as I have been because of my 
religious sentiments. I have tried to follow the law, but the Secretary of State is 
not willing to recognize that people have religious issues. Through research I 
found over 20 pages of information from one source showing the importance 
individual people put on the swearing of an oath in the name of God, rather than 
a secular one. Senator Woodhouse was willing to allow the amendment on her 
bill, but the Assembly was not.  

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/75th2009/Exhibits/Senate/LA/SLA1416G.pdf�
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Section 29.3 of A.B. 82 promotes prior restraint on freedom of speech. We are 
required to get approval from the Secretary of State to participate as an 
individual and have freedom of speech. What is happening to us? Why is the 
Secretary of State monitoring our speech? This is abhorrent and 
unconstitutional. According to the Secretary of State, these issues are at the 
zenith of our freedom of speech. I am asking you to carefully consider this bill. 
It has significant constitutional implications.  
 
LYNN CHAPMAN (Nevada Families): 
Will private schools and home-schooling be included in the proposed 
Amendment 5333, Exhibit H, regarding contributions to the schools? 
 
SENATOR LEE: 
I might kill my own amendment because the more I hear it, the less I like it.  
 
MS. CHAPMAN: 
It is not right that I can fill out a voter registration form and mail it in, but I have 
to go to a class if I dare to help someone else fill out their voter registration. I 
provided a handout (Exhibit K) with a headline that says, “New Electronic Voter 
Registration Database Rejects 43% of New Los Angeles Voter Applications! 
26% Rejected State-wide in California.” This happened because of electronic 
registration. I researched online for 30 minutes and found a great deal of 
information. Thad Hall, a political scientist at the University of Utah, says people 
may worry about electronic voting machines, but electronic voter registration is 
more worrisome because names disappear from the rolls. 
 
There is also concern about the risk of fraud and disenfranchisement of voters. 
He says the registration databases are difficult to maintain because there is no 
electronic standards for creating them. It is difficult for election officials to 
compare the databases with motor vehicle registries and prison records. 
Kentucky was sued by its Attorney General for attempting to remove 
8,000 voters from the rolls without notifying them. This is based on a 
comparison of his database with those in Tennessee and South Carolina in 
search of voters registered in multiple states. He said if Kentucky had not been 
sued, many voters would have been disenfranchised because of database 
errors.  
 
A September 2008 article regarding voter registration databases by Kim Zetter 
quoted Kim Alexander, president and founder of California Voter Foundation, 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/75th2009/Exhibits/Senate/LA/SLA1416H.pdf�
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who said, “We don’t know how many problems they have had across the 
Country. My guess is there have been technical problems with statewide 
databases all across the Country that have gone unreported.” Longtime voters 
phoned a national voter hotline complaining their party affiliations had changed 
from Democrat or Republican to unaffiliated, preventing some from casting 
ballots in states without open primaries. Others complained they were not on 
the voter rolls although they lived and voted in the same locations for years. A 
woman complained the birth date on her voter record was several decades off 
her real age. Some people were listed as inactive although they voted in the 
previous federal elections. One woman voted in 2006 and was told she was not 
registered and could not cast a ballot. Election officials told her that her voter 
identification number belonged to a man. There are many misspellings and 
transposed letters. The U.S Social Security Administration has acknowledged 
voter registration records have yielded a 28.5-percent error rate.  
 
How much is it going to cost to implement the electronic voter registration? 
Colorado spent $13 million and Pennsylvania spent $20 million to implement the 
systems with many problems. Wisconsin’s database became operational. They 
conducted a test of 20,000 names against the motor vehicle records and found 
20 percent with mistakes due to typos and transposed numbers. Among those 
who failed to match were four members of the state’s government 
accountability board who conducted the test. These are a few of the problems 
that can happen with the electronic registration. I still have the question: How 
much is it going to cost?  
 
MR. SCHUMANN: 
I can explain part of the problem with driver’s licenses. If I were to get 
Senator Lee’s driver’s license and use it as identification, then make a copy of 
the license, I could submit a voter registration with the other party in his name. 
It is not hard to do.  
 
CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
I was asked to present another amendment on A.B. 82. Proposed 
Amendment 5372 just arrived, and you are receiving the mock-up (Exhibit L, 
original in on file in the Research library). Ms. Chlarson will give us a brief 
summary.  
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SENATOR MATHEWS: 
This needs to be referred to the Senate Committee on Finance. It cannot have 
neutral costs.  
 
CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
The fiscal note in our book is quite small. 
 
MR. GRIFFIN: 
We were asked by the Assembly Elections Committee to put a fiscal note on 
A.B. 82. We put a $15,000 annual note on the bill to cover the cost of 
regulations. This ends up being a neutral, no-cost bill. The Secretary of State’s 
office can absorb the cost. While it will take resources to implement the online 
registration portion of the system, it is a gigantic relief for our office not to deal 
with the tens of thousands of registration applications that come into our office. 
The applications must be forwarded to the county clerk’s office who does the 
data entry, then it comes back to our office for us to correct errors in the data 
entry process. It ends up being a wash. 
 
MS. CHLARSON: 
Proposed Amendment 5372 to A.B. 82 would put all the cities and the city 
charters on the statewide election cycle. It would go into effect in 2012. The 
amendment would also provide that officials of cities who are elected in 
2009 would hold office until the city elections are held in 2012. Officials who 
are elected in 2011 would hold office until the city elections are held in 2014. It 
is a very long amendment.  
 
MR. GRIFFIN: 
Assembly Bill 82 is the only bill before the Nevada Legislature that was 
authored and coauthored by the Secretary of State’s office that administers 
elections and is supported by the Nevada Association of County Clerks. 
Testimony you have heard today is a mischaracterization of the bill. You heard 
quotations from an article from Ms. Chapman, but she failed to mention that 
was a 2006 article and has nothing to do with online registration. There has 
been a lot of testimony given on this bill in the last 20 minutes that does not 
exactly state what the bill does. In our estimation, the bill will enfranchise 
thousands of voters and protect the person at the polling location who is 
disenfranchised because of the actions of others. It will protect the person who 
wants to vote. For someone committing a fraud against them or throwing their 
registration application away, they can now vote because of measures in this 
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bill. If this bill does not pass, our office is left with little recourse to protect 
those people who have had fraud committed against them.  
 
While I understand the amendment that has been placed before the Committee 
and I know the history of the legislation, without discussing it with the 
Secretary of State I reserve the right to oppose any amendment to our bill until 
we know whether or not it will affect the status of A.B. 82. 
 
SENATOR MATHEWS: 
I have concerns about this bill, particularly regarding people in my district who 
have a hard time getting to computers. We have a family resource center that is 
always jam-packed with people standing in line for the computers. They are not 
going to be able to file an affidavit with you, because they do not know what 
an affidavit is. They just know they want to vote, put their name on a piece of 
paper and get it to you. This is not a good bill for the people in my district. I 
realize we need to move into the twenty-first century and the electronic age, 
but there are some of us who will be around for a number of years who are not 
ready or willing to move into this century. You need to allow for these people. 
You are putting a hardship on them. It will hurt a lot of voters. 
 
MR. GRIFFIN: 
Nothing in this bill will change the process of registration. Everyone will still be 
allowed to register the same way they do now. We are trying to allow for an 
additional way to register using the Internet and reduce disenfranchisement 
involved with the data entry and transmission problems. We are merely offering 
an additional way to register to vote.  
 
SENATOR LEE: 
Who brought forth the idea that we should drop the thresholds on the dollar 
amount and why? Was there a complaint from someone? 
 
MR. GRIFFIN: 
It came from a couple of different places. First, it mirrors and is identical to 
what is done in California. Second, it is the trend among states. The difference 
is because in 2005, BAGs and PACs were treated the same. In 2007, BAGs 
were pulled out and there are constitutional concerns about the definition of a 
BAG. In this scenario we are trying to put them back to BAGs and PACs. In 
order to do that, we must mirror the reporting requirement between BAGs and 
PACs—otherwise we run a risk of creating double reporting. If we do not make 
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everything the same between the two parties, you will need to report as a BAG 
and a PAC. That is not what we are trying to do. We want transparency for all 
people involved in the process regardless of who they donate money to. We 
want parity between BAGs and PACs and not require people to report twice.  
 
SENATOR LEE: 
One number was higher and one was lower, and you went with the lower 
threshold. Was there discussion about keeping it where it was and raising the 
PAC and BAG to that level rather than reducing the number to the lower level? 
 
MR. GRIFFIN: 
No, there was not. Currently in Nevada, we have 612 PACs registered with the 
Secretary of State of which about 170 are active. I could not tell you anything 
about the balance of the PACs. The fact remains there is little regulation on 
political action committees in the State of Nevada. Raising the threshold in our 
estimation would be a major step backward in allowing the voter to know who 
is giving money to campaigns and who is involved in each election and each 
question.  
 
SENATOR LEE: 
In Exhibit C, there is a map of California that shows where people live who 
donated on a ballot question. A computer search can be run to find out who 
gave money. Now these people are targets. I do not think we are trying to 
locate and harass people for contributing to an amendment. Is this happening in 
California? 
 
MR. GRIFFIN: 
Yes, it is happening in California. It is a balancing question for the Legislature. 
On the one hand, transparency will lead to greater public knowledge about who 
is funding campaigns. In California they took it to extreme. Those advocating a 
ban on California Proposition 8 were pinpointed and have been harassed. It is no 
different from what can currently happen in the State of Nevada and could have 
happened in the last few decades of election cycles. It is a balancing of the 
transparency voters want when they go to the polling place and the ability to 
know who is funding what campaign. There are always people who will use it 
as a tool for mischief. 
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SENATOR LEE: 
I have friends who have wanted to contribute $100 to my campaign. I advised 
them not to because they will end up on a list that will cause everyone in 
Nevada to contact them, asking for money. Friends have responded they regret 
giving me a contribution at that level because of this reaction. I have given 
money back to friends because I felt bad about their being harassed in this way. 
Would it be appropriate to keep the level of contributions at a higher level so 
this does not occur? 
 
MR. GRIFFIN: 
You are right. The list is generated from the contributions and the phone calls 
are made. I want to take this opportunity to address a misunderstanding about 
the bill. A person giving a contribution of $100 will not be required to report the 
donation or come to our office and register. If a donation is made on your 
behalf, then the person would be required to register in advance. I would 
caution against lowering the thresholds in Nevada because we are between 
46 percent and 48 percent relating to transparency. The process now is toward 
lowering the threshold. Colorado is down to $25 on a 48-hour reporting 
requirement. I would encourage the Committee to go the other way. The lower 
the threshold, the more information is available.  
 
SENATOR LEE: 
I appreciate what the Secretary of State does. I want to learn the issue with 
you, and I am supportive of your work in Nevada. 
 
SENATOR MATHEWS: 
I appreciate what the Secretary of State’s office does. But you do not think like 
people in the street who have to do what you want them to do. You are making 
big decisions for people who want to be a part of the process. I would like to 
have an explanation of the Category C felony; can you explain that to me? 
 
MR. GRIFFIN: 
On page 26, lines 14 through 16, section 25, subsection 3 of A.B. 82 increases 
a gross misdemeanor to a Category C felony. This is based on experience from 
the last election and what occurs in a voting location. Clark County had 
between 1,500 and 2,000 lawyers in the polling locations analyzing, reviewing 
and questioning everything that went on. From our standpoint, the right to the 
privacy of the vote is paramount to many rights that are exercised at the polling 
location. Free speech and electioneering are secondary to a person’s right of 
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privacy in voting. The word intimidation was added to section 24 because of 
the threats that have been associated outside of the polling location. That crime 
is moved from a gross misdemeanor to a Category E felony, the lowest level 
felony. Essentially, it goes from a gross misdemeanor, punishable up to one year 
in jail, to a mandatory probation sentence. Section 25 deals with the contact of 
poll workers and interference with transporting equipment in the location. The 
penalty goes from a gross misdemeanor to a Category C felony. If an 
obstruction of the polling workers or an actionable offense is occurring in the 
polling location, this gives enforcement the provision to call police to take the 
offender into custody with a felony consequence. The criminal provisions are all 
in response to specific acts that occurred in 2008. I am honored and proud to 
work with the clerks who handled occurrences in the manner they did. There 
was potential for situations to go badly. This is our way to prepare should this 
be a trend in the State in Nevada.  
 
SENATOR MATHEWS: 
Some of the sections in the bill that have criminal penalties are minor mistakes, 
such as section 28. You do not need to comment on that. 
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CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
We will close the hearing on A.B. 82. This meeting of the Senate Committee on 
Legislative Operations and Elections is adjourned at 3:46 p.m. 
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